# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

**DOCKET NO. 90,197** 

RUPERT B. BROWN and LETTIE NELL BROWN, his wife, and V. LEE POTTER,

Petitioners/Defendants,

vs.

THE ESTATE OF A. P. STUCKEY, SR., and SARAH STUCKEY,

Respondents/Plaintiffs.

SID J. WHITE

APR 14 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Called Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

DOCKET NO. 96-00150

PETITIONERS/DEFENDANTS' AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Martin S. Page
228 East Duval Street
Lake City, Florida 32055
(904) 752-0920
Florida Bar No. 0060736

Attorney for Petitioners/Defendants

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an action which was tried for two weeks before a jury in the Circuit Court, Third Judicial Circuit, in Suwannee County, Florida. In the action Petitioners were defendants and Respondents were plaintiffs. The jury trial resulted in a verdict on December 16, 1994, in favor of Respondents for damages and other relief sought by their complaint (except on one count, for which the jury found in favor of petitioners). Appendix A.

On Petitioners' timely filed motion, the trial court entered its order granting Petitioners a new trial, stating in part:

"The Court finds that under the facts of this case which has been in litigation since early 1989, the damages awarded are contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence and the instructions of law given the jury to guide it in its deliberations."

\* \* \* \* \*

"These considerations have led the Court to the conclusion that justice requires the motion of Defendants for new trial be granted. Because of the scope of the excessiveness of the damages when compared to reasonable inferences from the weight of the evidence, the Court cannot but conclude that the jury's findings as to the issues of liability and special interrogatory were similarly tainted, requiring that new trial be granted as to all issues."

Appendix B.

Respondents appealed the trial court's order granting new trial to the District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, which, in its opinion filed February 28, 1997, reversed the trial court's order finding:

"Our view of the record indicates that there was sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could have returned this verdict in favor of the plaintiffs. A full recitation of the evidence or the specific facts would serve no purpose. We, therefore, find without further comment that it was inappropriate to grant a new trial on the basis that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. See Miller v. Affleck, supra. [632 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1993)] Appendix C.

On March 14, 1997, Petitioners mailed to the District Court of Appeal, First District, and served upon opposing counsel, their Motion for Rehearing or Clarification and Motion for Rehearing En Banc. Appendix D and E. Unfortunately, the postal service did not deliver said motions to that said Court until March 19, 1997, two days after the last day for timely filing thereof. Petitioners, on March 20, 1997, filed with the District Court of Appeal, First District, their motion for order accepting said motions as timely filed. Appendix F. No ruling on this latter said motion has been received to the date of service of this Brief on Jurisdiction, and the Mandate of the First

District Court of Appeal issued on March 18, 1997. Appendix G. On March 27, 1997, Petitioners were left with no alternative but to timely file their Notice of Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to this Court, although through no desire to abandon those motions pending before the First District Court.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The order appealed to the District Court of Appeal,

First District, was one in which the trial court had granted
a new trial upon his findings that the verdict was contrary
to the manifest weight of the evidence. The Florida Supreme
Court has long established the principle that, in the
reviewing process of such orders, the Appellate Court should
determine if reasonable men could differ as to the propriety
of the trial court's action in so ruling; if they could,
then there is no abuse of discretion and that order should
not be disturbed.

In the instant appeal, and in other prior cases, the First District has begun employing as the standard applicable to review of such orders the "reasonable jury"; if a reasonable jury could have returned the verdict, then the trial judge abused his discretion and his order granting new trial because the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence must be reversed.

Those opinions of the First District not only conflicts with the prior announcements of the Supreme Court on the same point of law, but also inject confusion into the reviewing process of such orders and gives no guidance to trial courts in such circumstances.

For these reasons this Court has "conflict" jurisdiction and should accept review to clarify and reiterate its prior announcements on this principle which is one most important to the judicial process.

#### ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction of this action by authority of Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Constitution of the State of Florida, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District, directly and expressly conflicts with and deviates from the decisions of this Court on the same point of law; i.e., the standard for appellate review of orders granting new trials upon the ground that the verdict of the jury is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Smith v. Brown, 525 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1988), Appendix H; Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981) Appendix I; and Baptist Memorial Hospital, Inc. v. Bell, 384 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1980) Appendix J.

It also conflicts with decisions of other District
Courts of Appeal in Florida on that same point of law.
Nicaise v. Gagnon, 597 So.2d 305 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1992)
Appendix K; Currie v. Palm Beach County, 578 So.2d 760 (Fla.
4th DCA, 1991) Appendix L; Delucia v. Egan, 540 So.2d 937
(Fla. 2nd DCA, 1989) Appendix M; and see especially
Montgomery Ward & Co., Inc. v. Pope, 532 So.2d 722 (Fla. 3rd
DCA, 1988) Appendix N, in which Schwartz, Chief Judge, in
dissenting, recognizes the confusing and contradictory
principles at play in this reviewing process which sometimes
results in the reviewing court going by a "gut reaction" to

the record and order, then simply selecting the principle which supports the decision.

The Supreme Court in the above cited cases has stated, that the standard to be applied in the appellate process of reviewing the discretionary act of the trial court in ordering a new trial upon a finding that the verdict of the jury is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence is the "reasonable man" test: If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then the action is not unreasonable and there can be no finding of an abuse of discretion.

The District Courts of Appeal of Florida have attempted to follow that principle when reviewing orders granting new trials upon a finding by the trial court that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence, but not always without inexplicably contradicting results.

(Although not a basis for invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court, the opinion of the panel of the First District Court rendered in the instant action even conflicts with the decision rendered by a different panel of that same court on the same point of law. See Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. Arnold, 670 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1996) Appendix O, wherein the above announced standard was applied in an opinion finding no abuse of discretion, quoting from this Court's opinion in Smith v. Brown, supra.)

The First District Court has, unfortunately, propagated a "mutation" of the proper principle applicable here by incorporating principles that are properly to be applied to the review of verdicts held to be inadequate. In Lee v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 561 So.2d 373 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1990) Appendix P, cited in Miller v. Affleck, 632 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1993) Appendix Q, (which was relied upon in that court's opinion here being considered), the First District, in reversing a trial court's order which had granted a new trial upon the ground that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence, held:

"We also find that the trial court abused its discretion in granting the motion for a new trial, which should not be granted unless no reasonable jury could have reached the verdict rendered"

\* \* \* \* \*

"Given the evidence presented in this case, viewed in the light most favorable to support the jury's verdict, we cannot say that it is clear, obvious, and indisputable that the jury was wrong." (emphasis supplied)

However, that standard is one which the Supreme Court had applied to determine the adequacy of a jury verdict. In Griffis v. Hill, 230 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1969) Appendix R, this Court announced the "reasonable jury" rule in saying that the test to be applied in determining the adequacy of a verdict is whether a jury of reasonable men could have

returned that verdict." Griffis, 230 So.2d, at 145. See also, City of Hollywood v. Jarkesy, 343 So.2d 886 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1977) Appendix S.

However, the First District, in the instant appeal, and in Lee and Affleck, supra, is now applying that standard to the review of a trial court's exercise of his discretion to grant a new trial upon his considered, and explained, finding that the verdict of the jury "is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence". This creates a confusion of principles to be applied by the trial judges in the First District of Florida when faced with motions seeking new trials upon the grounds that the verdict of the jury is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Should the trial judge deny it because there is some evidence to support the verdict, or a jury of "reasonable men" could have so found? If so, then this Supreme Court should accept jurisdiction to announce that it recedes from Smith v. Brown and Bell, supra. If not, then this Court should accept jurisdiction to set the record clear that the principle applicable in the First District to such orders of the trial court remains that as announced in Smith and Bell.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should accept jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court, First District, based upon the conflict of that decision with decisions of this Court and other courts of appeal of Florida on the same point of law, and after briefing on the merits and argument, issue its opinion reversing the District Court and resolving the confusion by adhering to its prior and frequently announced standard of appellate review of orders of the trial courts granting new trials upon the grounds found in the instant trial.