IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ORIGINAL

DOCKET NO. 90,197

RUPERT B. BROWN and LETTIE NELL BROWN, his wife, and V. LEE POTTER,

Petitioners/Defendants,

vs.

THE ESTATE OF A. P. STUCKEY, SR., and SARAH STUCKEY,

Respondents/Plaintiffs.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

DOCKET NO. 96-00150

RESPONDENTS/PLAINTIFFS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

* * * * * *

MARKS, GRAY, CONROY & GIBBS, P.A. James C. Rinaman, Jr., Esquire Florida Bar No.: 66270 Edward K. Cottrell, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 13579 Post Office Box 447 Jacksonville, FL 32201 (904) 398-0900

Attorneys for Respondents

FILED 81D J. WHITE MAY 20 1997 CLEM

Rν blatv Clerk

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Respondents accept the statement of case and facts as set forth by Petitioners, with the exception that Respondents cannot confirm or deny the mailing date of Petitioners' Motion for Rehearing or Clarification and Motion for Rehearing En Banc. Respondents add to the statement that the district court decision was issued by an unanimous court, and that on May 2, 1997 the district court issued its Opinion On Appellees' Motion For Rehearing Or For Clarification And Appellees' Motion For Rehearing En Banc, attached hereto as Appendix D.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should deny review of the district court's decision because the Petitioners have failed to establish an express conflict with this Court or another district court as to a question of law. Because the trial court granted a new trial on the grounds that the amount of damages awarded by the jury was against the manifest weight of the evidence, the district court was required to determine if reasonable persons could differ as to the propriety of the trial court's finding that the damages fell outside the range that a reasonable jury could award. There is no indication in the district court decision that it failed to apply that standard, and Petitioners have failed to identify any case applying a conflicting Furthermore, the District Court issued a standard of law. clarified opinion which makes it clear that the appropriate abuse of discretion standard was applied and the court receded from any language in the opinion that had any potential for creating

1

conflict jurisdiction. Petitioners cannot self-generate a conflict by arguing the potential application of improper standards in the future. Consequently, conflict jurisdiction does not exist and review should be denied.

ARGUMENT

Petitioners have petitioned this Court to accept discretionary jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). This Court should not accept jurisdiction under that Rule because review of the district court opinion demonstrates that there is no express conflict as to a question of law.

The general question of law for which Petitioners try to create a conflict is "the standard for appellate review of orders granting new trials upon the ground that the verdict of the jury is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence." (Petition, p.5). It is unquestioned under Florida law that the test for an order granting new trial is whether the trial court abused its discretion, and that there is no abuse of discretion if reasonable persons could differ as to the propriety of the trial court's Smith v. Brown, 525 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1988) (Appendix D); action. Miller v. Affleck, 632 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (Appendix E). The applicability of that standard has never been at issue in this action and has been reiterated in the District Court's Opinion on Appellees' Motion for Rehearing or for Clarification and Appellees' Motion for Rehearing (clarified opinion) (Appendix D). , which apparently led the district court not to expressly address that

2

issue in its opinion.¹ Consequently, nothing in the subject district court opinion expressly conflicts with any decision of this Court or another district court, or any case cited by Petitioners, as to the applicable standard of review.

Perhaps recognizing the absence of an express conflict as to the abuse of discretion standard, Petitioners rely on the argument that:

The First District Court has, unfortunately, propagated a "mutation" of the proper principle applicable here by incorporating principles that are properly to be applied to the review of verdicts held to be *inadequate*.

(Petition, p.7).² That "mutation," Petitioners assert, is the application of this Court's reasonable jury inquiry expressed in <u>Griffis v. Hill</u>, 230 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1969), as follows:

The test to be applied in determining the adequacy of a verdict is whether a jury of reasonable men could have returned that verdict.

<u>Id.</u> (Appendix F). This argument is moot based on the district court's clarified opinion which emphatically reiterates that it applied the appropriate abuse of discretion standard set forth by this Court in <u>Smith v. Brown</u>, 525 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1988). Moreover,

¹Both parties acknowledged in their briefs the applicability of the abuse of discretion standard, and that "an abuse cannot be found if 'reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the trial court's granting a new trial.'" (citing Respondents' Reply Brief filed in the district court).

²Petitioners argue that the standards set forth in prior First District Court decisions are in conflict with this Court. (P.7). Respondents do not make counter arguments herein because this Court has held that conflict review will not be granted based on previous decisions, even if cited for authority in the decision under review. <u>Harrison v. Hyster Co.</u>, 515 So.2d 1279 (Fla. 1987) (Appendix I); <u>Dodi Publishing Co. v. Editorial America, S.A.</u>, 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980) (Appendix J).

the clarified opinion makes it clear that the district court receded from dicta language in their opinion: "[t]o the extent that our prior decision in this case appeared to state that we would overturn a trial court's decision to grant a new trial 'if there was sufficient evidence from which a jury could have returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs'," that Petitioners rely on for conflict jurisdiction in both their Notice and Amended Brief on Jurisdiction.

Neither the opinion nor its clarified opinion of the district court rely on <u>Griffis v. Hill</u> because there is no reference to that case in either opinion. In addition, it was appropriate for the district court to consider the reasonableness of the jury's verdict because the only specific ground provided by the trial court to support its Order was that the damages awarded were not supported by the evidence.³ (See Order, Appendix B; and Petition statement of facts, p.1). Thus, in order to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion, the district court had to determine what standard the trial court should apply when considering the amount of damages awarded. This Court has clearly stated:

The verdict should not be disturbed unless it is so inordinately large as obviously to exceed the maximum limit of a reasonable range within which the jury may properly operate.

Ashcroft v. Calder Race Course, 492 So.2d 1309, 1314 (Fla. 1986) (Appendix G). Consequently, the context under which the

³Petitioners conceded at oral argument that the trial court did not rely on jury misconduct as grounds for granting the new trial. <u>See</u> district court opinion, p. 4.

district court determined whether the trial court abused its discretion required the district court to review the record to determine whether there was sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could have returned the verdict for the damages awarded. If that evidence was sufficient to indicate that reasonable persons could not differ as to the inappropriateness of granting a new trial on the grounds that the damages were against the manifest weight of the evidence, then under <u>Smith v. Brown</u>, the trial court abused its discretion.

Review of the district court's unanimous opinion and clarified opinion provides no indication that it failed to follow the authority set by this Court in Smith v. Brown in light of Ashcroft and Griffis as well as the First District Court's interpretation of an appeal in Miller v. Affleck. Those cases are not in conflict with each other or the district court opinion herein. See Short v. Grossman, 245 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1971) (Appendix H). Consequently, Petitioners do not cite any conflict between the district court's opinion and clarifying opinion herein and the application of the reasonable jury or reasonable range analysis set forth in Ashcroft, Griffis, Smith, and Miller. Petitioners attempt to create a conflict by discussing a "some evidence" standard, upon which there is no indication of application in the district court opinion, and which standard was clearly rejected by this Court in <u>Smith v.</u> Because Petitioners cannot create a non-existent conflict Brown. through argument, conflict jurisdiction does not exist sub judice and review should be denied.

5

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review of the district court opinion because there is no express conflict as to a question of law.